SEP 25 2015

COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION III
STATE OF WASHINGTON
By

NO. 335283

# COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### KIM MIKKELSEN

Plaintiff / Appellant

V.

PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT #1 OF KITTITAS COUNTY, JOHN HANSON, PAUL ROGERS, ROGER SPARKS, and CHARLES WARD,

Defendants / Respondents

#### BRIEF OF APPELLANT KIM MIKKELSEN

J. Jay Carroll, WSBA #17424 Halverson | Northwest Law Group P.C. 405 East Lincoln Avenue Yakima, WA 98901 Telephone: (509) 248-6030 Facsimile: (509) 453-6880

jcarroll@halversonNW.com

## **

I. INTRODUCTION
II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR
III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE
A. Adoption of the Corrective Action Policy 5
B. The Rein of Defendant Ward as General Manager 8
C. The Termination of Mikkelsen's 27 Year Career 12
IV. ARGUMENT
A. Overview of the Discrimination Analysis
B. Circumstantial Evidence Burden Shifting Test
C. The Failure of Defendants to Follow the Corrective Action Policy Also Provides a Basis for Liability 33
<ol> <li>Issues of Fact Exist on the "Implied Contract" Theory. 36</li> <li>Issues of Fact as to the Specific Treatment Claim Presented</li></ol>
3. Any Alleged Disclaimers in the Policy are Not Effective or Present Issues for the Trier of Fact
D. Issues of Fact as to the Plaintiff's Claim of Negligent Hiring, Supervision or Retention
E. Plaintiff's Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress (Outrage) Claim Should Likewise Proceed Since There Are Issues of Fact Presented
V. CONCLUSION
V. CONCEONON
APPENDIX: Position Description

### **Table of Authorities**

### Cases

Berg v. Hudesman, 115 Wn.2d 657, 801 P.2d 222 (1990)36
Briggs v. Nova Servs., 135 Wash.App. 955, 147 P.3d 616 (2006),
Bulman v. Safeway, Inc., 144 Wn.2d 335, 27 P.3d 1172 (2001)
Burnside, 123 Wn.2d at 10539
Callahan v. Walla Walla housing Authority, 126 Wn. App. 812, 110 P.3d 782 (2005)23
Carle v. McChord Credit Union, 65 Wn. App. 93, 827 P.2d 1070 (1992)19, 29
Carson v. Bethlehem Steel Corp., 82 F.3d 157 (7th Cir. 1996)25
Cluff v. CMX Corp. Inc., 84 Wn. App. 634, 929 P.2d 1136 (1997)23
Cumpiano v. Banco Santander P.R., 902 F.2d 148 (1st Cir. 1990)25
deLisle v. FMC Corp., 57 Wn. App. 79, 786 P.2d 839 (1990)
Fitzpatrick v. Okanogan County, 169 Wn.2d 598, 238 P.3d 1129 (2010)33
Fulton v. State, Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs.,  169 Wn. App. 137, 279 P.3d 500 (2012)

Gaglidari v. Denny's Restaurants, Inc., 117 Wn.2d 426, 815 P.2d 1362 (1991)
<i>Griffith v. Schnitzer Steel Indus.</i> , 128 Wn. App. 438, 115 P.3d 1065 (2005)
Grimwood v. University of Puget Sound, Inc., 110 Wn.2d 355, 753 P.2d 517 (1988)17, 19, 21-24, 26
Hatfield v. Columbia Federal Sav. Bank, 57 Wn. App. 876, 790 P.2d 1258 (1990)
Hegwine v. Longview Fibre, 162 Wn.2d 340, 172 P.3d 688 (2007)
Hill v. BCTI Income Fund-I, 144 Wn.2d 172, 23 P.3d 440 (2001)
Howard v. Roadway Express, Inc., 726 F.2d 1529 (11th Cir.1984)
Hume v. Am. Disposal Co., 124 Wn.2d 656, 880 P.2d 988 (1994)
Jackson v. Richards Med. Co.,         961 F.2d 575 (6th Cir.1992)       25
Johnson v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs., 80 Wash.App. 212, 907 P.2d 1223 (1996)
Johnson v. Nasca, 802 P.2d 1294 (OK App 1990)
Kirby v. City of Tacoma, 124 Wn. App. 454, 98 P.3d 827 (2004)
Kries v. Wa-Spok Primary Care, LLC, Wn. App, P.3d 2015 WL 5286176 (Div. III, 2015) 44
Kuyper v. Dep't of Wildlife, 79 Wash App. 732, 904 P.2d 793 (1995)

Ledaura, LLC v. Gould, 155 Wn. App. 786, 237 P.3d 914 (2010)33
Loeb v. Textron, Inc., 600 F.2d 1003 (1st Cir.1979)
McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green, 411 U.S. 792, 93 S.Ct. 1817, 36 L.Ed.2d 668 (1973) 18, 23
Meiri v. Dacon, 759 F.2d 989 (2d Cir.1985)25
Nieto v. L & H Packing Co., 108 F.3d 621 (5th Cir.1997)
Owen v. Burlington N. Santa Fe R.R., 153 Wn.2d 780, 108 P.3d 1220 (2005)
Parker v. United Airlines, Inc., 32 Wn. App. 722, 649 P.2d 181 (1982)
Payne v. Sunnyside Community Hosp., 78 Wn. App. 34, 894 P.2d 1379 (1995)
Pivirotto v. Innovative Sys., Inc., 191 F.3d 344 (3d Cir. 1999)
Rice v. Offshore Systems, Inc., 167 Wn. App. 77, 272 P.3d 865 (2012)
Riehl v. Foodmaker, Inc., 152 Wn.2d 138 94 P.3d 930 (2004)
Rucshner v. ADT Sec. Sys. Inc., 149 Wn. App. 665, 204 P.3d 271 (2009)
Scrivener v. Clark College, 181 Wn.2d 439, 334 P.3d 541 (2014)
Sellsted v. Wash. Mut. Sav. Bank, 69 Wn. App. 852, 851 P.2d 716,

Sherman v. State, 128 Wn.2d 164, 905 P.2d 355 (1995)
Spradlin Rock v. Pub. Util. Dist., 164 Wn. App. 641, 266 P.3d 229 (2011)
<u>Swanson v. Liquid Air Corp.,</u> 118 Wn.2d 512, 826 P.2d 664 (1992)15, 34-36, 42-47
Thompson v. St. Regis Paper Co., 102 Wn.2d 219, 685 P.2d 1081 (1984)15, 16, 34-36, 42
Toussaint v. Blue Cross & Blue Shield, 408 Mich. 579, 292 N.W.2d 880 (1980)
Walker v. St. Anthony's Med. Ctr., 881 F.2d 554 (8th Cir.1989)
Woolley v. Hoffmann-La Roche, Inc., 99 N.J. 284, 491 A.2d 1257 (1985)
Xieng v. Peoples Nat'l Bank, 120 Wn.2d 512, 844 P.2d 389 (1993)17
<u>Statutes</u> RCW 49.60.180(2)

а

#### I. INTRODUCTION

Kim Mikkelsen was a 27 year female employee over the age of 40 employed at the Kittitas County PUD who was fired from her job by Defendant Charles Ward. Mikkelsen had a spotless record at the PUD. In fact she was the acting interim General Manager prior to Defendant Ward being hired. There were no complaints nor adverse documentation in Mikkelsen's employee file.

The Mikkelsen firing was wrongful for several reasons. First, she was discriminated in the firing on the basis of sex and age. Mikkelsen made a sufficient prima facie showing as to both claims and has satisfied her burdens to allow these claims to be presented to a jury. These claims involve multiple issues of fact and it was error for the trial court to dismiss these claims as a matter of law.

In addition, defendants failed to follow the Corrective Action policy that was in place. Mikkelsen was entitled to enforce this policy and the failure to do so by defendants was actionable by Mikkelsen. Multiple issues of fact are presented in this claim and the trial court erred in dismissing the claim as a matter of law.

Finally, it was error for the Court to dismiss Mikkelsen's claims for outrage and negligent hiring and supervision. Again, multiple issues of fact were presented making the Court's dismissal inappropriate. There was no

valid reason for Mikkelsen's firing. Such action violated both Washington public policy and the PUD's Corrective Action policy. Multiple issues of fact were presented and it was error for the trial court to grant the defendants' motions for summary judgment.

#### II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Assignment of Error No. 1: The trial court erred in its granting of the Defendants' Motions for Summary Judgment and dismissing the plaintiff's case.

#### Issues Related to Assignment of Error No. 1:

- 1. Did Mikkelsen present a prima facie case of discrimination?
- 2. Is the fact that Mikkelsen was not replaced by someone outside the protected class fatal, as a matter of law, to her discrimination claim?
- 3. Are multiple issues of fact presented by Mikkelsen as to her prima facie case and the issue of pretext thus making summary judgment inappropriate?
- 4. Were issues of fact presented as to the Mikkelsen's ability to enforce the PUD Corrective Action policy thus making summary judgment inappropriate?
- 5. Were issues of fact presented as to the application of the doctrine of Outrage thus making summary judgment inappropriate?

6. Were issues of fact presented as to the application of the negligence claims thus making summary judgment inappropriate?

#### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Kim Mikkelsen (hereinafter "Mikkelsen) was born in 1954 in a small Montana town. She obtained a college degree and after graduation from college in 1976 she went to work for Fergus Electric Cooperative in 1978. Mikkelsen worked at Fergus until 1984 when she was hired by the Kittitas County Public Utility District (PUD). This move started her 27 year career with the Kittitas County PUD. Mikkelsen was hired as the finance manager. She worked "part time" and was paid by the hour. (CP 315). Mikkelsen and the PUD entered into an employment contract which set forth 36 specific duties that she, as Manager of Accounting and Finance, would be required to perform. (CP 391-93)(APP-1-APP-3).

At the same time, in 1984, Mikkelsen started her consulting business. The primary focus of the business was on financing, administration and accounting issues and training in the utility businesses. (CP 214). There was no secret about her consulting business. In fact, the consulting business was the primary reason that she was a part time employee.

The Kittitas County PUD has a three member Board of Commissioners (hereinafter "Board") that oversee operations and it employs a General Manager to oversee operations. The first General Manager Mikkelsen worked with was Budd Weir. She worked with him from her initial employment in 1984 until Weir's retirement in 1988. Mikkelsen worked well with Weir and had no issues or problems. (CP 316).

Upon Weir's retirement in 1988, George Harmon was hired as the new General Manager at the PUD. He remained General Manager until his retirement in 2001. During these 14 years Mikkelsen worked with Harmon and that work was both rewarding and enjoyable. There were many accomplishments at the PUD during this time and, again, Mikkelsen had no issues or problems under Harmon's tenure as General Manager. (CP 316).

After Harmon retired, the Board hired Mark Kjelland as the new General Manager. While Mikkelsen had no issues with Mr. Kjelland, personally, she, along with three other employees became concerned with certain of his actions late in his employment as General Manager. These concerns culminated with a letter in August 2009 that Mikkelsen, together with three other employees sent to the Board under the "whistleblower" policy provision at the PUD outlining the concerns that these four PUD employees had with respect to Mr. Kjelland. (CP 316; CP 326-28)

As a result of this whistleblower action, Mr. Kjelland resigned his position as the General Manager at the PUD. This left a void at the General Manager position. Mikkelsen was asked by the Board to assume the duties of the interim General Manager of the PUD. She agreed to do so. (CP 317) She was the interim manager from October 2009 through July 2010. (CP 416) All three Commissioners asked Mikkelsen on numerous occasions to be the permanent General Manager of the PUD but Mikkelsen did not desire the position and declined the kind offers. Among other duties, Mikkelsen then organized the search for a new General Manager for the PUD. Mikkelsen found three manager search firms and the Board selected one to work with. The selected firm vetted about 50-60 applicants. (CP 317).

This search process resulted in the Board hiring defendant Charles Ward (hereinafter "Ward") as the next General Manager of the PUD. His tenure ran from July 1, 2010 through December 31, 2011 (18 months) at which time his employment was terminated by the Board. (CP 395 & 404).

#### A. Adoption Of The "Corrective Action Policy"

During her time as interim General Manager at the PUD, Mikkelsen spearheaded several initiatives. The one relevant to this discussion was the development of a "Corrective Action Policy" to be followed by the PUD in the discipline of PUD employees. No such written PUD policy existed at the time that Mikkelsen assumed the role of interim manager. (CP 317)

This Corrective Action policy was adopted for the protection of both the employees of the PUD as well as the PUD itself. The intent was to have "guidelines" in place so that everybody knew what the rules were. (CP 417-18)

Prior to becoming interim manager, Mikkelsen was required to discipline one of the PUD employees. There were no procedures in place at the time so that both Mikkelsen and the person being disciplined had nothing to follow. Mikkelsen did not desire to be in that position again. (CP 418-19).

Accordingly, once interim general manager, Mikkelsen made several inquiries as to what other PUDs were using as corrective action policies and was provided a policy from the Chelan County PUD. While not taken verbatim, the Chelan policy was largely adopted by the PUD Board. The Corrective Action Policy adopted by the Board applies to both the PUD union and non-union employees. The final policy was the subject of several meetings and discussion at the Board level. The Corrective Action Policy was eventually adopted in November 2009 by the Board. (CP 317; CP 343-348; APP 4- APP 9).

After the adoption of the Corrective Action Policy and during Mikkelsen's time as the interim General Manager, she utilized the Corrective Action Policy on one occasion. As the acting General Manager,

Mikkelsen did not view the Corrective Action Policy as "optional". Mikkelsen was faced with a situation with a union lineworker and utilized the Correction Action Policy adopted by the Board. Mikkelsen used and followed the Corrective Action policy and the progressive discipline alternatives set forth therein. In accordance with the progressive discipline model set forth therein, a verbal warning was given to the worker at issue and the warning successfully remedied the situation. (CP 317; 419).

The same Corrective Action Policy was utilized by the defendant Ward as well once he became the General Manager of the PUD. Once Ward became the General Manager, he used the Corrective Action Policy to issue a verbal warning to a PUD lineworker. Mikkelsen was involved in the process because she was the "witness," under the policy, for the verbal warning that was issued. During the process, defendant Ward had discussions with Mikkelsen with respect to the use of the Corrective Action policy. Defendant Ward never took the position that the policy was somehow "optional." Defendant Ward and Mikkelsen discussed the appropriate level of discipline under the Corrective Action policy and the Policy was followed. Defendant Ward was faced with the discipline issue as General Manager and the Corrective Action Policy was used as it was designed. (CP 317; 556).

Prior to Mikkelsen's termination in August 2011, The PUD Corrective Action policy was in effect for nearly two years. The Corrective Action policy was invoked and utilized by the PUD on two occasions during that time frame. There is no evidence in the record, up until Mikkelsen's termination, that the Corrective Action policy was not followed.

#### B. The Rein Of Defendant Ward As General Manager

Mikkelsen was involved in the process for the search for a new General Manager for the PUD after Mr. Kjelland. Mikkelsen reviewed defendant Ward's materials. Mikkelsen had concerns and she expressed those concerns to the search consultant and the Board. One of the main concerns was the fact that Mr. Ward seemed to have multiple, short term positions, one of which he admitted being fired from. These issues concerned Mikkelsen and she expressed them. In response, the Commissioners inserted a bonus payment to Mr. Ward if he stayed for at least five years. Mr. Ward was eventually offered the position of General Manager and his first day was in July, 2010. (CP 556; CP 395-96).

Once defendant Ward was hired as the General Manager in July 2010, Mikkelsen resumed her position as the Finance Manager. There were three PUD employees on the "management team" in addition to defendant Ward: Mikkelsen, Brian Vosburgh and Matt Boast. The management team

group met on a regular basis. Mikkelsen had initiated such regular meetings during her tenure as the interim General Manager of the PUD. (CP 556).

While Mikkelsen's relationship with Mr. Ward was initially unremarkable, it did not take long for certain issues to arise. In about December 2010, Mikkelsen began to notice a distinctly different treatment from defendant Ward. Mikkelsen noticed that defendant Ward was "passing me over" on e-mail communications while including both of her male management team members in those e-mails. Both Brian Vosburgh and Matt Boast even mentioned this fact to Mikkelsen. It was at this point that Mikkelsen noticed that defendant Ward was beginning to work with the male management team members to the exclusion of her. When the management team would have meetings, defendant Ward would cut Mikkelsen off and ignore her and did not do the same to the male team members, Matt and Brian. (CP 318-19; CP 434-37).

There were several occasions where Mikkelsen would suggest something at management meetings and the suggestion would be ignored by defendant Ward. However, if Mikkelsen told that exact same thing to Matt or Brian and they suggested it to defendant Ward, he not only listened but adopted the suggestion. When defendant Ward first started work, Mikkelsen was the "acting manager" at the PUD when defendant Ward was gone. Subsequently, Ward excluded Mikkelsen from this position. Ward's

gender bias became more overt as time passed. Ward began making remarks separating employees by gender rather than by job. On numerous occasions, he would refer to the "girls", "gals" or "ladies" in clerical positions of the office, yet when referring to the male line crew, he avoided the use of "guys" or "men" or "boys." (CP 318-19; CP 434-37).

The relationship between Mikkelsen and defendant Ward continued to deteriorate. In March, 2011 (9 months after Ward becomes General Manager), Mikkelsen initiated a meeting with Ward on March 30, 2011. Among other topics of discussion, Mikkelsen specifically addressed gender discrimination issues with defendant Ward as they pertained to Mikkelsen. While defendant Ward said he would attempt to do better, that did not happen. In fact, Ward's actions toward Mikkelsen became more derisive, dismissive and the relationship deteriorated even further. (CP 318).

The atmosphere did not improve on the gender front from defendant Ward toward Mikkelsen. This became more overt during the union negotiations when Mikkelsen attempted to make the contract gender neutral. During negotiations regarding fire-retardant clothing, Mr. Ward said he would wear any uniform paid for by the PUD, just so long as it wasn't "pink". Mikkelsen was also told that it was simply one of those "guy/girl" things with defendant Ward. Even more troubling, Ward would

rearrange his genitals when he sat across from Mikkelsen, a behavior she never witnessed toward Ward's male staff members. (CP 318).

In July 2011, the President of the PUD Board, Commissioner Hanson, called Mikkelsen to ask how things were going at the PUD. She told Commissioner Hanson that she would only discuss those issues if he acknowledged that he had called her. Since it was the truth, he agreed. Mikkelsen told President Hansen many of the items addressed above. He asked Mikkelsen what she would suggest the Board do. She suggested an independent consultant would likely suggest that an employee survey be conducted so that it was not just one person's perception. On August 9, 2011, President Hanson called Mikkelsen to ask her to send him a proposed survey. Mikkelsen did as requested and sent President Hansen a copy of a survey. President Hanson also asked Mikkelsen to forward a copy of the survey to the other two commissioners and she complied with that request as well. (CP 318-19).

The policy of Sexual Harassment enacted by the PUD in 1991 said, "Any question regarding either this policy or a specific situation should be addressed to the General Manager or the President of the Board of Commissioners. Prompt action shall be taken when a question or situation is brought to the attention of the appropriate person." When President Hanson called Mikkelsen on the 24<sup>th</sup> of July, 2011, she specifically told him

of Ward's different treatment of her than that of her male contemporaries. There was no response by the Board after Mikkelsen informed President Hanson. (CP 318-19).

#### C. The Termination Of Mikkelsen's 27 Year Career

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