#### CASE NO. 335283

# COURT OF APPEALS, STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION III

#### KIM MIKKELSEN,

Appellant,

v.

PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT #1 OF KITTITAS COUNTY, JOHN HANSON, PAUL ROGERS, ROGER SPARKS and CHARLES WARD,

Appellees.

#### BRIEF OF DEFENDANT/APPELLEE CHARLES WARD

James M. Kalamon, WSBA #7922 Paine Hamblen LLP 717 West Sprague Avenue, Suite 1200 Spokane, Washington 99201-3505 (509) 455-6000

Attorneys for Defendant/Appellee Charles Ward

##

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

#### IV. ARGUMENT

#### A. Standard of Review.

The Appellate Court reviews a trial court's grant of summary judgment de novo. *Scrivener v. Clark Coll.*, 181 Wn.2d 439, 444, 334 P.3d 541 (2014) (citing *Camicia v. Howard S. Wright Constr. Co.*, 179 Wn.2d 684, 693, 317 P.3d 987 (2014)). Summary judgment is proper if "the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." CR 56(c). When reasonable minds can reach but one conclusion, questions of fact may be determined as a matter of law. *Ruff v. King County*, 125 Wn.2d 697, 704, 887 P.2d 886 (1995). The purpose of summary judgment is to avoid a useless trial. *Balise v. Underwood*, 62 Wn.2d 195, 199, 381 P.2d 966 (1963).

In response to a motion for summary judgment, the non-moving party must produce more than mere speculation and unsupported assertions to defeat the motion. *Grimwood v. University of Puget Sound, Inc.*, 110 Wn.2d 355, 359-61, 753 P.2d 517 (1988). In order for an

employee alleging discrimination in the workplace to overcome a motion for summary judgment, the employee must do more than express an opinion or make conclusory statements. *Marquis v. City of Spokane*, 130 Wn.2d 97, 105, 922 P.2d 43 (1996); *Hiatt v. Walker Chevrolet Co.*, 120 Wn.2d 57, 66, 837 P.2d 618 (1992). The employee has the burden to establish *specific* and *substantial* evidence to support each and every element of her case. *Hiatt*, 120 Wn.2d at 66; *Kahn v. Salerno*, 90 Wn. App. 110, 117, 951 P.2d 321 (1998).

Based on the standard articulated above, Ward respectfully submits that this court should affirm the trial court's grant of summary judgment, which held as a matter of law, Mikkelsen did set forth specific facts showing that there was a genuine issue for trial.

- B. The Trial Court Did Not Err in Granting Summary Judgment in Favor of Ward and the PUD Due to the Uncontested Fact That, After Mikkelsen's Termination, Ward and the PUD Hired a 51 Year Old Woman to Replace Mikkelsen.
  - 1. <u>Washington's Law Against Discrimination and the McDonnell Douglas Prima Facie Test.</u>

Washington's Law Against Discrimination (WLAD) makes it unlawful for employers "[t]o discharge or bar any person from employment because of age, sex, marital status, race, creed, color, national origin, or the presence of any sensory, mental, or physical disability."

RCW 49.60.180(2). The purpose of WLAD is to eliminate and prevent discrimination in the workplace. RCW 49.60.010.

Washington courts have recognized that discharged employees rarely have direct evidence that an employer engaged in discriminatory behavior. *Hill v. BCTI Income Fund-I*, 144 Wn.2d 172, 179-80, 23 P.3d 440 (2001), overruled on other grounds by McClarty v. Totem Elec., 157 Wn.2d 214, 137 P.3d 844 (2006). In the absence of direct evidence of discriminatory intent courts must apply a three part "evidentiary burdenshifting protocol" (hereinafter referred to as "the McDonnell Douglas framework") on summary judgment to allow a discharged employee to have "his [or her] day in court despite the unavailability of direct evidence of intentional discrimination." *Id.* at 180 (citing McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green, 411 U.S. 792, 93 S. Ct. 1817, 36 L. Ed.2d 668 (1973); Sellsted v. Washington Mutual Savings Bank, 69 Wn. App. 852, 864, 851 P.2d 716 (1993)).

The first part of the *McDonnell Douglas* framework requires the plaintiff-employee to put forth a prima facie case of unlawful discrimination. *Hill*, 144 Wn.2d at 181 (citing *McDonnell Douglas*, 411 U.S. at 802, 93 S.Ct. 1817). A plaintiff can establish a prima facie case of age discrimination by showing he or she was (1) "within the statutorily protected age group of employees 40 years of age or older";

(2) "discharged [by the defendant]"; (3) "doing satisfactory work"; and (4) replaced by someone under 40 years old or a significantly younger person<sup>[1]</sup>." *Becker v. Wash. St. Univ.*, 165 Wn. App. 235, 252, 266 P.3d 893 (2011) (citing RCW 49.44.090(1); *McClarty*, 157 Wn.2d 214). A plaintiff can establish a prima facie case for gender discrimination by showing she (1) "is a member of a protected class," (2) "was discharged," (3) "was doing satisfactory work," and (4) "was replaced by a person of the opposite sex or otherwise outside the protected group." *Domingo v. Boeing Employees' Credit Union*, 125 Wn. App. 71, 80, 98 P.3d 1222 (2004) (footnote omitted). "Unless a prima facie case of discrimination is set forth, the defendant is entitled to prompt judgment as a matter of law." *Id.* at 181 (citation omitted). The second and third parts of the *McDonnell Douglas* framework are discussed in Section C *infra*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Mikkelsen, 57 years old when terminated, does not argue that she was replaced by someone "significantly younger" than her. The court should find that Mikkelsen waived any argument on that issue. But even if Mikkelsen made such an argument, she cannot make a showing that Pratt, who was 51 years old when she was hired by the PUD, was a significantly younger person. *France v. Johnson*, 795 F.3d 1170, 1174 (9th Cir. 2015) (presuming that an age difference of less than ten years is insubstantial).

On summary judgment, Ward conceded that Mikkelsen satisfied the first two elements of the *McDonnell Douglas* prima facie test, but disputed the third element, i.e., that Mikkelsen performed satisfactory work. The trial court gave Mikkelsen the "benefit of the doubt" that she performed satisfactory work. CP at 532. On appeal, Ward maintains that Mikkelsen failed to satisfy the third element for the reasons discussed in the Statement of Facts *supra*.

On appeal, Mikkelsen argues that the trial court erred by using the fourth element as the determining factor in dismissing her discrimination claim. The trial court found Mikkelsen failed to satisfy the fourth element because "[t]here is absolutely no doubt that after her termination [Mikkelsen] was replaced by a person within both [(age and gender)] protected classes." CP at 532. The trial court explained that there may be some circumstances where the fourth element is not required, but Mikkelsen failed to put forth evidence that would justify "obviat[ing] the requirement of the fourth element." CP at 532.

2. The Washington Cases Cited by Mikkelsen Do Not Support
Her Argument that a Flexible Application of the
McDonnell Douglas Prima Facie Test Requires Courts to
Disregard the Fourth Element in Age and Gender
Discrimination Cases.

Mikkelsen argues that the trial court erred by rigidly applying the McDonnell Douglas prima facie test and failing to follow Washington precedent finding that the fourth element is not absolute. App. Br. at 22-23. Ward agrees that the *McDonnell Douglas* prima face test should not be "rigid, mechanized, or ritualistic," or the exclusive method of proving a claim. *Grimwood*, 100 Wn.2d at 363. But flexible application of the framework does not require courts to disregard the fourth element in age and gender discrimination cases, as argued by Mikkelsen. Furthermore, the Washington cases relied upon by Mikkelsen provide guidance about when courts need not apply the fourth element, but do not support wholesale abandonment of the element.

Mikkelsen first cites to *Hatfield v. Columbia Federal Sav. Bank*, 57 Wn. App. 876, 882, 790 P.2d 1258 (1990),<sup>2</sup> for the proposition that the fourth element is not applicable "as it relate[s] to the replacement of a discharged employee by a younger person." App. Br. at 22. In *Hatfield*, the court of appeals reversed the trial court's grant of summary judgment in favor of a defendant-employer because there were genuine issues of material fact as to whether the employer's reasons for terminating a 56-year old employee were pretext for discriminatory reasons. In determining whether the plaintiff-employee had put forth a prima facie case, the court

Overruled on other grounds by Burnside v. Simpson Paper Co.,
 Wn.2d 93, 106, 864 P.2d 937 (1994).

noted that it was unclear whether the plaintiff-employee had been replaced by a younger person. Id. at 881. There was some evidence that another employee had taken over some of the plaintiff-employee's responsibilities, but the employer apparently did not hire a new employee. Id. The court noted that in limited situations, the fourth element should not be the determining factor. See Id. at 882 ("The fourth part of the McDonnell Douglas test, that the job remained open, has been dispensed with in reduction-in-force cases and in cases where the plaintiff has introduced direct or circumstantial evidence of discriminatory intent or statistical evidence of discriminatory conduct.") (quoting B. Schlei & P. Grossman, Employment Discrimination Law (2d ed. 1983)). The court found the uncertainty of whether the plaintiff-employee was replaced by a younger employee presented an exceptional case that did not warrant the application of the fourth element to analyze the plaintiff-employee's discrimination claim.

This case is distinguishable from *Hatfield* because, in this case, there is no dispute that Mikkelsen was replaced by a 51 year old female employee to do the same work that Mikkelsen performed. *Hatfield* does not stand for the proposition that the fourth element is not applicable "as it relate[s] to the replacement of a discharged employee by a younger person." App. Br. at 22. Rather, *Hatfield* suggests that the fourth element

should generally be applied subject to limited exceptions, such as when it is unclear whether a discharged employee has been replaced.

Mikkelsen next cites to *Grimwood*, 110 Wn.2d at 363. In *Grimwood*, the court did not address whether the plaintiff-employee made a prima facie showing because the court found that, even if the plaintiff-employee had put forth a prima facie case, his discrimination claim would still fail because he did not satisfy the third part of the *McDonnell Douglas* framework—pretext. *Id.* at 364; *see also infra* (discussing second and third parts of the *McDonnell Douglas* framework). In dicta, the court briefly discussed the showing a plaintiff-employee must make to satisfy the fourth element of the *McDonnell Douglas* prima facie test:

The element of replacement by a younger person or a person outside the protected . . . group is not absolute; rather, the proof required [to meet the fourth element] is that the employer "sought a [younger] replacement with qualifications similar to [the discharged employee's], thus demonstrating a continued need for the same services and skills."

Grimwood, 110 Wn.2d at 363 (quoting Loeb v. Textron, 600 F.2d 1003, 1013 (1st Cir. 1979)).

Mikkelsen cites this dicta in support of her argument that the fourth element is not absolute. App. Br. at 22. Mikkelsen ignores the fact that this dicta provides guidance in how courts should apply the fourth element, which suggests that the fourth element has not been abandoned.

Mikkelsen cannot make the showing necessary to satisfy the fourth element as the court understood it in *Grimwood*, i.e., (1) the employer sought a younger person with (2) skills similar to the discharged employee. It is undisputed that the PUD continued to need a person with services and skills like Mikkelsen's. Pratt had similar skills and was qualified to perform the duties of the PUD Finance Manager. But as Pratt was a woman about the same age as Mikkelsen, Mikkelsen fails to show that the PUD sought a younger female or male employee. Since Mikkelsen fails to meet her burden to meet the fourth element as described in *Grimwood*, that element should not be disregarded.

Mikkelsen additionally cites to Fulton v. State, Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs., 169 Wn. App. 137, 152, 279 P.3d 500 (2012), Callahan v. Walla Walla Housing Authority, 126 Wn. App. 812, 820, 110 P.3d 782 (2005), and Cluff v. CMX Corp. Inc., 84 Wn. App. 634, 637, 929 P.2d 1136 (1997). App. Br. at 23. Although these courts recognize flexibility in applying the McDonnell Douglas prima facie test, they involve unique fact situations and legal standards that are not applicable to this case. See Fulton, 169 Wn. App. at 152-56 (recognizing the need for a relaxed prima facie standard in the "failure-to-promote context" when the promotion was not advertised); Callahan, 126 Wn. App. at 820 (addressing whether a plaintiff-employee met her prima facie burden to show that she was fired

based on a real or perceived disability, an analysis that does not require the plaintiff-employee to show that she was replaced by someone else); *Cluff*, 84 Wn. App. at 634-37 (declining to apply fourth element in an employee's handicap discrimination claim where it was uncontested that the employee's position was eliminated and no replacement employee was hired). These cases suggest that courts properly apply the prima facie case with flexibility. These cases do not "eliminate" the fourth element as argued by Mikkelsen. App. Br. at 23.

Additional Washington authority suggests that the inquiry made under the fourth element plays an important role in the discrimination analysis. In *Hill*, the court discussed how to prove discriminatory intent in the context of the same actor defense. 144 Wn.2d at 189-190. The court suggested that an employer's hiring decisions can be evidence of the lack of a discriminatory intent in the mindset of the employer. *See Id.* ("When someone is both hired and fired by the same decision makers within a relatively short period of time, there is a strong inference that he or she was not discharged because of any attribute the decision makers were aware of at the time of hiring . . . After all, if the employer is opposed to employing persons with a certain attribute, why would the employer have hired such a person in the first place?"). The court's recognition that an employer's hiring decisions are probative of the employer's discriminatory

intent (or lack thereof) is contrary to Mikkelsen's assertion that the fourth element "add[s] nothing to the discrimination analysis." App. Br. at 24.

In sum, the Washington cases cited by Mikkelsen do not support her argument that the fourth element of the McDonnell Douglas prima facie test is only a "potential" or "perceived" element that courts should disregard. App. Br. at 19, 21. Rather, these cases support that courts should apply the fourth element subject to limited circumstances, see Hatfield, 57 Wn. App. at 882, because the fourth element is probative of discriminatory intent, see Hill, 144 Wn.2d at 189-190. These cases display how the prima facie elements of discrimination claims are flexible, and, when the factual circumstances of the case warrant it, the fourth element is not absolute and can be set aside to avoid illogical conclusions. See, e.g., Grimwood, 110 Wn.2d 355; Cluff, 84 Wn. App. 634; Fulton, 169 Wn. App. 137. In this case, however, the fourth element is directly relevant and applicable and the trial court did not err in dismissing Mikkelsen's discrimination claim on the grounds that Mikkelsen failed to show that she was replaced by someone outside her protected class of age and/or gender.

3. The Federal Cases Cited by Mikkelsen Do Not Support Her Argument that the Fourth Element Should be Eliminated.

Mikkelsen argues that a number of federal cases have "eliminated" the fourth element. See App. Br. at 24-26 (citing Pivirotto v. Innovative

Sys., Inc., 191 F.3d 344, 347 (3d Cir. 1999) and additional federal cases). Although the federal cases cited by Mikkelsen suggest that the fourth element should not be the deciding factor in certain cases, the cases also affirm that, in other cases, the fourth element continues to have evidentiary value in determining whether a plaintiff-employee has proven a defendant-employer's discriminatory intent.

In *Pivirotto*, the Third Circuit held that a Title VII gender discrimination case does not "require a plaintiff to prove that she was replaced by someone outside her class in order to make out a prima facie case." *Pivirotto*, 191 F.3d at 355. The Third Circuit did not hold that the fourth element should be eliminated, but instead noted, "The fact that a female plaintiff claiming gender discrimination was replaced by another woman might have some evidentiary force, and it would be prudent for a plaintiff in this situation to counter (or explain) such evidence." *Pivirotto*, 191 F.3d at 354.

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